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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA    CRIMINAL NO. 07-103 

 

VERSUS       SECTION “L”       MAG. (5)  

 

JAMES G. PERDIGAO  VIOLATION: 18 USC 1341, 

1344, 2314, 1957 & 2, 26 

USC 7201 & 7206 (1) 

 

     
 

MOTION TO DEPOSIT FUNDS HELD BY  

U.S. MARSHAL SERVICE IN INTEREST-BEARING ACCOUNT  

 
 

 NOW INTO COURT, through undersigned counsel, comes defendant James 

Perdigao who hereby moves the court to order that all funds currently being held by the 

U.S. Marshal Service in this matter be placed in an interest-bearing account for the 

reasons more fully set forth in the attached memorandum in support of this motion. 

 

 

WESSEL & ASSOCIATES 

       A LAW CORPORATION  
            

   

       /s/ William F. Wessel   

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (#8551) 
127 Camp St.    

New Orleans, LA 70130 

Telephone (504) 568-1112 

Facsimile (504) 568-1208 
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and 

 

/s/ Charles F. Griffin  

CHARLES GRIFFIN, ESQ. 

(#06318) 
802 S. Carrollton Avenue 

New Orleans, Louisiana 70118 

Telephone (504) 866-4046 

Facsimile (504) 866-5633 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR 

DEFENDANT 

JAMES PERDIGAO 
 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 25, 2008 I electronically filed the above and 

foregoing pleading with the Clerk of Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send 

a notice of electronic filing to counsel registered with the court for receipt of pleadings by 

e-mail.  I also certify that the foregoing and all attachments thereto have been served on 

all counsel of record by facsimile, electronic mail and/or by depositing same in the 

United States Mail, properly addressed and postage prepaid, this 25th day of September, 

2008. 

 

                  
/s/ William F. Wessel  

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (8551) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA    CRIMINAL NO. 07-103 

 

VERSUS       SECTION “L”       MAG. (5)  

 

JAMES G. PERDIGAO  VIOLATION: 18 USC 1341, 

1344, 2314, 1957 & 2, 26 

USC 7201 & 7206 (1) 

 

     
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF  

MOTION TO DEPOSIT FUNDS HELD BY  

U.S. MARSHAL SERVICE IN INTEREST-BEARING ACCOUNT  
 

 The U.S. Marshal Service currently holds certain funds in this matter that the 

government seeks to forfeit pursuant to the superseding indictment.  Counsel for 

defendant had promptly requested on previous occasions that the funds being held by the 

U.S. Marshal Service be deposited in an interest-bearing account, but the government 

never responded as to whether the funds were currently held in an interest-bearing 

account or whether the funds would be transferred to an interest-bearing account.  This 

memorandum is respectfully submitted by defendant James Perdigao, through 

undersigned counsel, in support of his motion to deposit all funds currently being held by 

the U.S. Marshal Service in this matter in an interest-bearing account. 

 Law and Argument 

It is hardly arguable that it is in everyone’s economic interest that the funds held by 

the U.S. Marshal Service in this matter be placed in an interest-bearing account pending 
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the outcome of the litigation.  A claimant who prevails in a forfeiture action has an 

obvious claim that he or she is entitled to receive interest on the seized funds.  The 

government is not entitled to make use of a seized car or boat before it obtains a 

judgment of forfeiture.  Likewise, the government should not be able to use a claimant’s 

money for its own use while depriving the claimant of the interest he or she would have 

earned on the money during the time it is in the government’s custody.  In such cases, the 

government must disgorge its earnings along with the property at the time the property is 

returned.  See U.S. v. $515,060.42, 152 F.3d 491, 504 (6
th

 Cir. 1998) (“there is no issue of 

sovereign immunity because the government is not being asked to pay interest, but to 

disgorge property that was not forfeited”). 

In U.S. v. $277,000 U.S. Currency, 69 F.3d 1491 (9
th

 Cir. 1995), the Ninth Circuit 

had occasion to address the extent to which an owner may recover an amount related to 

the loss of the use of his property between the time of seizure and favorable adjudication 

of his claim.  In that case, the government had brought a forfeiture action seeking 

forfeiture of $277,000 in U.S. currency and was ultimately found to have no proper claim 

to the property.  As it turns out, the seized funds in that case were deposited in a holding 

account that did not earn interest.  Although the Ninth Circuit noted that the government 

was not generally liable for damages or interest prior to judgment because of sovereign 

immunity, Id. at 1493, citing Library of Congress v. Shaw, 478 U.S. 310, 106 S.Ct. 2957, 

92 L.Ed.2d 250 (1986), the Ninth Circuit held that the government is not free to profit 

from wrongly seized property without recourse by the owner.  Id.   

The Ninth Circuit was offended by the notion that the government could profit from 
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the use of a claimant’s property by (actually or constructively) earning interest on the 

money that it was required to return to the claimant.  The court reasoned that the tangible 

financial benefit that the government gets from retention of assets becomes part of the res 

itself.  Thus, the court held that interest earned in an interest-bearing account would 

become part of, and be substituted for, the res along with the original amount.  U.S. v. 

$277,000 U.S. Currency, 69 F.3d at 1496 (9
th

 Cir. 1995). 

There are other occasions in which a payment of money by the government relating 

to something it has seized can be characterized as something other than a forbidden 

award of pre-judgment interest.  In U.S. v. 1980 Lear Jet, 25 F.3d 793 (9
th

 Cir. 1994), the 

government seized property subject to a mechanic’s lien.  The innocent lien holder was 

allowed to recover not only the basic amount of his lien, but also the costs normally 

allowed by state law, including statutory interest.  The court held that the government, in 

seizing the property, stood in the shoes of the former property holder and was subject to 

his liabilities under state law.  The court particularly noted that there was also no issue of 

sovereign immunity “because the government is not required to pay interest,” only to 

disgorge some of its share of the proceeds of seized property.  Id at 797; see also, U.S. v. 

Real Property Located at 41741 National Trails Way, 989 F.2d 1089 (9
th

 Cir. 1993); U.S. 

v. 92 Buena Vista Ave., 507 U.S. 111, 124, 113 S.Ct. 1126, 122 L.Ed.2d 469 (1993) 

(holding that the government is not an owner of property before forfeiture has been 

decreed).   
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In U.S. v. $277,000 U.S. Currency, 69 F.3d 1491 (9
th

 Cir. 1995), it was also not 

clear from the representations of the government as to whether or not the account into 

which the funds in that case were deposited was in fact an interest-bearing account.  The 

Ninth Circuit surmised that the account at issue in that case was known as a Seized Asset 

Deposit Account authorized by 28 U.S.C. 524(c) which established a fund to hold assets 

after they have been forfeited and “holding accounts” for assets before forfeiture.  The 

court explained that the act of holding funds in the U.S. Treasury, even where those funds 

are held in a non-interest bearing status, financially benefits the federal government.  

Financial assets in the hands of the government are a means by which the government 

avoids having to borrow equivalent funds.  Id. at 1494.  Placing the seized currency at 

issue in a Treasury account meant that the government was not required to borrow an 

equivalent sum.  Id.  Federal budget documents have consistently explained that the 

federal deficit is essentially financed, in part, by any non-interest bearing balances held 

by the Treasury.  Id. (citations omitted).   

The Ninth Circuit in $277,000 noted that the notion that interest earned on money 

in an interest-bearing account would become part of, and would be substituted for (along 

with the original amount) the res itself was in full accord with common sense.  “If the 

government seized, for example, a pregnant cow and was ultimately found not to be 

entitled to the cow after it had given birth, it could hardly be contended that the 

government had fulfilled its duty by returning the now-barren cow, but retaining the 

calf.”  Id. at 1496 citing Sherwood v. Walker, 33 N.W. 919 (Mich. 1887), cited in In re 

Florida v. Treasure Salvors, Inc., 621 F.2d 1340, 1349 (5
th

 Cir. 1980).   The Ninth 
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Circuit’s well-reasoned decision in $277,000 has been followed by most other courts.  

See U.S. v. Funds Held in the Name or for the Benefit of Wetterer, 210 F.3d 96 

(government conceded that claimant would recover interest if it succeeded in recovering 

the corpus, citing $277,000); U.S. v. $515,060.42, 152 F.3d 491, 504-506 (6
th

 Cir. 1998); 

Brooks v. U.S., 980 F.Supp. 321 (E.D.Mo. 1997) (finding government liable for interest 

actually accrued, or if seized funds were placed in Treasury account, the constructively 

earned interest at government’s alternative borrowing rate from the time currency seized 

until its return); U.S. v. 1461 West 42nd Street, Hialeah, Florida, 251 F.3d 1329 (11
th

 Cir. 

2001).   

If this court determines that the funds held by the U.S. Marshals Service herein 

were placed in an interest-bearing account, then there would be no need to treat the funds 

as “constructively” earning interest because the funds actually earned interest.  If such is 

the case, the government would satisfy its burden to disgorge the benefit it has received 

from the use of defendant’s property by turning over the interest actually earned on the 

seized funds.  See U.S. v. $133,735.30 Seized From U.S. Bancorp Brokerage Account, 

139 F.3d 729, 731-32, 732-33 n. 3 (9
th

 Cir. 1998) (holding that where government places 

seized funds in an interest-bearing account, the government must return to claimant the 

seized funds as well as the interest earned). 
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For all of the foregoing reasons, defendant respectfully moves the court to order 

that all funds currently being held by the U.S. Marshal Service in this matter be placed in 

an interest-bearing account and for such other relief as may be proper in the premises. 

 

 

WESSEL & ASSOCIATES 

       A LAW CORPORATION  
            

   

       /s/ William F. Wessel   

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (#8551) 
127 Camp St.    

New Orleans, LA 70130 

Telephone (504) 568-1112 

Facsimile (504) 568-1208 

 

and 

 

/s/ Charles F. Griffin  

CHARLES GRIFFIN, ESQ. 

(#06318) 
802 S. Carrollton Avenue 

New Orleans, Louisiana 70118 

Telephone (504) 866-4046 

Facsimile (504) 866-5633 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR 

DEFENDANT 

JAMES PERDIGAO 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 25, 2008 I electronically filed the above and 

foregoing pleading with the Clerk of Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send 

a notice of electronic filing to counsel registered with the court for receipt of pleadings by 

e-mail.  I also certify that the foregoing and all attachments thereto have been served on 

all counsel of record by facsimile, electronic mail and/or by depositing same in the 

United States Mail, properly addressed and postage prepaid, this 25th day of September, 

2008. 

 

                  
/s/ William F. Wessel  

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (8551) 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF LOUISIANA 

 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA    CRIMINAL NO. 07-103 

 

VERSUS       SECTION “L”       MAG. (5)  

 

JAMES G. PERDIGAO  VIOLATION: 18 USC 1341, 

1344, 2314, 1957 & 2, 26 

USC 7201 & 7206 (1) 

 

    NOTICE OF HEARING 

 
To: James R. Mann, AUSA 

 U.S. Attorney’s Office 

 Hale Boggs Building 

500 Poydras Street, Suite B-210 

 New Orleans, LA 70130 

 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that the Motion to Deposit Funds Held by U.S. Marshal 

Service in Interest-Bearing Account filed by defendant James Perdigao, through 

undersigned counsel, will be brought for hearing before the Honorable Eldon Fallon, 

United States District Judge, 500 Poydras Street, New Orleans, Louisiana 70130 at 2:00 

p.m. on November 5, 2008, or at such other date and time as may be set by the court.   

        WESSEL & ASSOCIATES 

       A LAW CORPORATION  
             

       /s/ William F. Wessel   

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (#8551) 
127 Camp St.    
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New Orleans, LA 70130 

Telephone (504) 568-1112 

Facsimile (504) 568-1208 

 

and 

 

/s/ Charles F. Griffin  

CHARLES GRIFFIN, ESQ. 

(#06318) 
802 S. Carrollton Avenue 

New Orleans, Louisiana 70118 

Telephone (504) 866-4046 

Facsimile (504) 866-5633 

 

ATTORNEYS FOR 

DEFENDANT 

JAMES PERDIGAO 
 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
 I hereby certify that on September 25, 2008 I electronically filed the Notice of 

Hearing with the Clerk of Court by using the CM/ECF system which will send a notice of 

electronic filing to counsel registered with the court for receipt of pleadings by e-mail.  I 

also certify that the foregoing and all attachments thereto have been served on all counsel 

of record by facsimile, electronic mail and/or by depositing same in the United States 

Mail, properly addressed and postage prepaid, this 25
th

 day of September, 2008. 

 

                  
/s/ William F. Wessel  

       WILLIAM F. WESSEL (8551) 
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